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UNITED STATES ENVIRONME! ! PROTECTION AGENCY
BEFORE THE REGIONAL ADMINISTRATOR ‘

In the Matter of !
; .
Magna Corporation, et al., y 1.F. & R. Docket No. VIII-35C
) S
Respondents. ) .

INITIAL DECISION

This is a proceeding under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and
Rodenticide Act {“FIFRA")} Section 14(a)(1), 7 U.S.C. 136 1{a){1) {1976),
for the assessment of civil penalties for _violations of the Act.

The proceeding was instituted by a complaint which charged that Hagna
Corporation ("Magna") and Michael Lofland, an employee of Magna, violated
FIFRA, Section 12(a}(2}{G), 7 U.S.C. 1365 (a)(2)(G) by misusing the
registered pesticide MAGNACIDE "H"., A civil penai%y of $10,000 was
asked against Magna, and a penalty of $5,000 against Lofland.
Respondents' answered and denied the-violation. They alsc con-
tested the appropriateness of the proposed penalties. A hearing was
requested.

A prehearing exchange of documents, witness 1ists and other
information was accomnlished through correspondence as permitted by the
Rules of Practice, 40 C.F.R. 168.36{e}, and these prehearing responses

are made'a part of the record. A hearing was held in Denver, Colorado,

“T7The 1976 Edition of the United States Code contains FIFRA as it read
prior to its recent amendment by the Federal Pesticide Act.of 1978,
Pub, L. 95-396, 92 Stat 819 (1978) (hereafter “1978 Pesticide Act").
These amendments have not affected the liabilities of the parties in
this proceeding. All references to FIFRA, accordingly, will be to the
1976 United States Code, except when it is considered relevant to also
discuss the amendment by the 1978 Pesticide Act.
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by agreement of the parties on June 27, 28 and 29, 1978. Following
the hearing, the Parties fijed Provosed findings of fact, and
conclusions of taw and briefs on the Tegal isspes. These submissions
have been considered, and ail} Proposed findings not adopted'are
rejected. It ig concluded that j civil penalty of $7,800 should
be assessed against Magna and that the comptaint should be dismissed

as to Lofland, since N0 penalty may pe assessed against him,
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A ' . Findings ' Fact .
1. Respondent Magna Corporation is a corporation drganized under
the laws of the State of California.
2. Respondent Michael D. Lofland is and has been an employee of Magna
since June 1, 1975. On August 26, 1976, he was employed as a
technical sales representative of Magna.
3. Magna distributes and sells a product calied MAGNACIDE H, which

" is a pesticide registered with the United States Environmental

Protection Agency ("EPA") pursuant to the Federal Insecticide,

Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, Section 3, 7 U.S.C. Sec. 136a
and which bears EPA Registration MNo. 10707-9.

4. MAGNACIDE “H" is a water soluble material used for the control of
submerged and floating weeds and algae fn 1rri§ation canals.

5. Acroiein constitutes about 92% of thg content of MAGNACIDE “"H"
and is the active ingredient theréin; '

6. Acrolein is toxic to fish and MAGNACIDE "H' will ki1l fish at the
application rates recommended by Magna for control of weeds and
algae. '

7. The label approved by EPA for MAGNACIDE "H" contains the following
statements:

"Do not release treated water for six days

-after application into any fish bearing
water or where it will drain into them.

Consult your State Fish and Game Agency
before applying this product.®

8. The State Fish and Game Agency for the State of Colorado is the

Department of Natural Resources.
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The St. Vrain Supply Canal, aiso known as the Carter Canail, is
located in the State of Coloradn, and distributes water from

Carter Lake Reservoir to water users along the canal and on the

St. Vrain Creek {also referred to as the St. Vrain River).

The canal flows in a generally southerly direction from Carter Lake
a distance of approximately 9.8 miles where it discharges into the
St. Vrain Creek.

The St. Vrain Creek is a known fish bearing water.

On August 26, 1976, Lofland, applied approximately 74 gallons of

MAGNACIDE "H" to the upper portion of the Carter Canal. The

- application was done for the purpose of controlling a severe

aquatic weed grawth in the first mile—Tong sedtion of the Canal.
MAGNACIDE “H" was applied from approximately 9:15% a.m. to 1:15 p.m.
The canal at that time was fo]]oﬁing its normal cou;se of flow
into the St. Vrain Creek. It toék about one hour and 30 minutes
from the point where the MAGNACIDE "H" was applied for the treated
water to reach the St. Vrain Creek, so that treated water flowed
into the St. Vrain Creek during the period from about 10:45 a.m.
to 2:45 p.m.

Lofland as part of the application attempted to neutralize the
acroiein in the canal water before the 'water discharged into the
St. Vrain Creek, by applying sodium bisulfite to'fhe canal water
at a point on the canal slightly upstream from where ;hé canal

discharges into St. Vrain Creek.
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The app]gtion of the sodi' .oisulfite di?hot succeed in
reducing the concentration of acrolein to a ieve1 where it wouid
be non-toxic to fish in the 5L. Vrain Creek.
In the late afternoon on August 26, 1876, a number of dead and dying
fish were observed in the 5t. Vrain Creek downstream from the con-
fluence with the Carter Canal. The Department of Natural Resources
was notified and an inspection by Wildlife Conservation Officer
Gary Lee Brown of the Division of Wildlife, Department of Natura)
Resources, was made on the evening of August 26, of the creek about
one-half mile downstream from the d{scharge point of the canal.
Several fish were discovered to be dead or acting in a distressed
manner. On the morning of August 28, 1978, Wildiife Conservation
Officers Michael A, Babler and Robert Leasure surveyed the area and
found about 1400 dead German Brown trout, 453 dead‘suckers, and other
dead species of fish in a sect{on of the St. Vrain Creek located
between the confluence of the Carter Canal and the St. Vrain Creek
and a point roughly 2 miles downstream. Only one dead German Brown
Trout was found upstream from the d%scharge point of the canal.
Respondents in the course of applying MAGNACIDE "H" to the Carter
Canal on August 26, 1978, released water treated with the product
inpo the St. Vrain Creek, a fish bearing water, less than six days

after application, in violation of the Tabel's directions, and were

responsible for causing the deaths of over two thousand fish in

the St. Vrain Creek.

Respondents did not consult with the State Fish and Game Agency,
the Colorado Department of Natural Resources, as required by the
product’'s labeling before applying MAGNACIDE "H" to the Carter Canal
on August 26, 1978.




b -

Discussion, Conc lusion, and Penalty

The Viclations

Respondent, Magna, distributes MAGNACIDE "H", a herbicide.
Magna's normal practice is to sell MAGNACIDE “H" to applicators licensed
by Magna who apply the product after they have been instrucied-by Magna
- personnel in the techniques of application. Transcript of hearing ("Tr."},
249; Resp. Ex. 19 {label). Respondent Lofland is an employee of Magna,
who, on August 26, 1976, was employed as a technical sales representative.
Tr. 246. Sometime prior to August 26, 1976, Lofland was approached by
the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District with respect to using
HAGNACIDE "H" 9n the upper part of the Carter Canal in order to kill a
heavy infestation of aguatic weeds in that section. Tr. 247. The applica-
“tion was done on August 26, 1976, with Lofland in this instance doing the
application himself with assistance from persons from the Water Conservancy
District. Tr. 248-57, 320, 325. EnoughrMAGNACIDE “H" was added to the
water at the application site to make a concentration of 1.95 parts per

2/
million ("ppm"), a quantity which would be fatal to fish. The Carter

Canal flows into the St. Vrain Creek, a known fish bearing water, at a point
about 9.8 miles from the application site. On the same day, August 26,
and later in the day, the unusual occurrence of a large number of dead

and dying fish was cbserved in the St. Vrain Creek, in the vicinity of
3/

where the Carter Canal discharged ‘into the Treek. - Virtually all the

2/ The label for MAGNACIDE "H® states that fish will be killed at
the application rates recommended. Resp. Ex. 19. The application of
1.95 ppm was at the rate recommended, for the weed growth in the canal.
Tr. 259-62. The evidence indicates that the threshold of -toxicity
of acrolein, the active ingredient in MAGNACIDE "H", is well below
1.95 ppm. One study concluded that for fish exposed 4 to 8 hours
to acrolein, a concentration above 0.2 ppm would be hazardous. Resp. Ex.
22 at 5. MAGNACIDE "H" is 92% acrolein. -

_3/ Wiidlife Conservation Officer Roberts, who has patrolled the
St. Vrain Creek for the past thirteen years, testified that he knew

of no other fish kills in this.area during this period. Tr. 146-47.




dead fish were found in a two mile nction of the Greek inmediately
4/

—

downstream from the discharae poinl of the Larter 6ana1. Tr. 36-38.
The above facts, which are no! -ubject to material dispute, when
coupled with the fact that tests on dead fish taken from the fjsh kill
gave a positive response indicating the presence of large amounts of
acrolein in the bloodstream of the dead fish (EPA Ex. 8), would seem to
incontrovertibly estabiish that exposure to MAGMACIDE "H" caused the fish
kill. Respondents, however, introduced evidence casting doubt upon the
reliability of the gas chromatographic analysis of the dead fish
performed by Mr. Wapensky, EPA's expert witness. The evidence suggests
that the test may not be sufficiently specific to disclose whether
the fish had actually been exposed to acrolein in toxic quantities.
“See Tr. 487-491, 598—99(5* | {

It becomes necessary, therefore, to examine respondent's contention

that by the time the canal water discharged into St. Vrain Creek, the

acrolein in the canal water had been reduced to non-toxic Tevels as a
result of aeration in the canal, absorption of the aquatic weeds and
by the application of sodium bisulfite to the treated canal water prior

6 /
to its discharge into the creek.

4/ One dead German Brown Trout was found upstream from the Canal
discharge p01nt Tr. 34.

5/ Exper1ments conducted by or. K1sse1, respondent s exnert,
suggested that unknown products occurring in nature could give the
same response in gas chromatographic analysis as acrolein. Tr. 496, 598.

_6/ Acrolein apparently combines with sodium bisulfite to form a
non-toxic stable substance. Tr. 535-36. If all acrolein were either
removed from the water or converted into a non-toxic product before the
canal water discharged into the St. Vrain Creek, any violation resulting
from re]eas1ng the treated water into the Creek in less than six days
would be de minimus.
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The possibility that turbulence in the water é]ong portions of the
canal flow and the absorption by werds in the canal had any significant
effect on reducing the concentration of acrolein can quick!y be dismissed
as too speculative to be given any credence. Mr. Lof]and's_teﬁtimony on
 this point, on which respondents rely, is unpersuasive, since he ?as only
giving his opinion and he is not a chemist. Tr. 267-72, 286—8?."—/

I find that whether or not the concentration of acrolein was sufficiently
reduced to make the treated canal water harmless when it flowed into
St. Vrain Creek depended upon whether enough acrolein had been neutralized
by sodium bisulfite to make it non—toxic.uﬁf

- The procedure for neutralizing acro1eiﬁ by sodium bisulfite as
~an alternative to containing the treated wéter for;six days was not

3/
then and is not presently part of the approved labeling of MAGNACIDE “H".

7/ Tt is true that a test of a water sample drawn from near the
discharge point in the canal disclosed only 0.10 ppm of acrolein. Resp.
Ex. 152. But that test was conducted on August 31, 1976, five days after
the application and allowance must be made for the loss of acrolein in
the interim by hydrolysis. Ty. 477, 605; Resp. Ex. 137.

_8/ Dr. Kissel admitted that if the neutralization by sodium
bisulfite was 1nc0mp]ete, it was possible that enough acrolein would
have remained in the water to kill fish. Tr. 639,

_ 9/ The label for MAGNACIDE “H" refers only to using sodium
bisulfite to neutralize "spilled" acrolein, but makes no reference to
using it for neutralizing treated water. The label also states that
MAGNACIDE "H" should "only be applied in accordance with directions in
Magna Bulletin ACD 65-153." That bulletin makes no reference to

neutralizing treated water with sodium bisulfite. Resp. Ex. 19.
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It is a procedure which is not presently approved Ey respondent Magna.
Tr. 300.19! The application invelved in this proceeding is the only

time respondent Lofland has used or observed the procedure: Tr. 300,
320. Respondent applied the sodium bisulfite by adding it thrﬁugh a

~ hose above the stream near or at the canal's discharge point into the

St. Vrain Creek, Tr. 285-338. A good mix of the sodium bisulfite

and the treated canal water before the treated water entered the creek
was essential in order to make the treatment effective. Resp. Ex. 17.
What is necessary to accomplish a gooed mix is not spelled out in
respondent's temporary application manual on which Respondent Lofland
relied. See Tr. 275; Resp. Ex. 17. To make an intelligent determination
* requires a thorough knowledge of the channé]—flow-éharacteristics and

the application of principals of engineering. Tr. 667-676. Respondent
Lofland was not an engineer, and as éTréady noted, did nét even have

any prior experience in using the sodium bisulfite procedure. Respondent
Lofland's inexpert method of application is shown by the fact that he

did not even find out from individuals familiar with the canal what the
mixing zone in the canal should be for achieving a good mix before the
canal water discharged into the creek. Tr. 419. In view of the

circumstances of the fish kill following upon the heels of the

application and the lack of persuasive evidence that the sodium

bisulfite application would be effective, I find that acrolein was

discharged in toxic guantities into the creek.

10/tofland, however, considered the procedure to be approved by
Magna at the time he used it. Tr. 304-05.
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Respondents suggest that chloi ine combined with other effluent
discharges from the Lyons sewage treatment plant may have been
responsible for the fish kill. The outfall from the sewage treatment
plant was upstream from the confluence of the canal with the, creek.
Tr. 395, Resp. Ex. 1. The possibility that the discharges from the
sewage disposal plant caused the fish kill is much less 1ikely than
that the fish were killed by acrolein. While there have been a few
instances of the sewage discharge exceeding residual chlorine
limitations, it has not been shown that théy resulted in building
up residual chlorine in the creek. Tr. 396, 401.11/

-Respondents also argue that since some dead fish were found
‘upstream from the Carter Canal, it follows fhat the:dead fish found
in the creek could not have been killed by acrolein., The site at which

these dead fish were alleged to be found is the Second Avenue bridge
12/

in Lyoné, which is also above the sewage disposal plant. Only

11/ In March 1977, a grab sample of the sewage effluent discharge
disclosed 3.0 mg/1 of residual chlorine. Resp. Ex. 35. These samples
are taken before the effluent empties into the creek. Respondent argues
that if this had occurred on August 26, 1976, with the conditions of
volume of discharge and flow of the creek existing on that day, a concen-
tration of about .005 ppm of chlorine would have resulted in the creek,
which would allegedly have been fatal to fish. The answer to this is
that in the 10 year period prior tq August 26, there have been no other
known fish kills in the area. Tr. 146-47. Further, on August 21, 1976,
when the latest sample prior to August 26 was taken, residual chlorine
in the sewage effluent was measured as ranging from 0.5 - 0.75 mg/1, a
much lower concentration than 3.0 mg/1. Resp. Ex. 85. There were no
known fish kills on that day in the avea, nor on any of the succeeding
days prior to August 26, ‘

12/ See Resp. Ex. 154.
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one dead fish was observed in this area by the officials who
13/
made the official investigation. [Ir. 72, 722. Ho inquiry was

made as to the cause of death of this one fish, and its ungxp1ained
presence does not detract from the conclusion that the thousanas of
~ dead fish found downstream from the canal's discharge point were
killed by acrolein contaminated water issuving from the canal.
Respondents further argue that the absence of any dead fish
in the canal proves that acrolein could not have killed the fish in
the creek. It is respondent's contention that the canal was also a
fish bearing water. The evidence discloses, however, that it was
most unlikely that Brown Trout in any large number, i1f at all, were

14/
*in the canal in August. Tr. 709-17.

13/ Respondents rely on a newspaper article which reported that a
"few" dead fish were found near the Second Avenue bridge. MNewspaper
reports of events are of doubtful credibility, especially when they are
based on the reporter's understanding of his conversations with others.
Respondents argue that they have been prejudiced because there
was no authority under FIFRA to subpoena the reporter, Mr. Gerson.
Respondents were permitted to introduce an affidavit by Mr. Gerson,
which does not enhance the credibility of his newspaper story of the
fish kill. Mr. Gerson merely states that the ariticle was written on
the basis of his own observations, and upon interviews with others,
but does not particularize what he may have personally observed. Resp.
Ex. 128. It can be assumed from this failure of the affidavit to be
more explicit that Mr. Gerson's report of the dead fish at the Second
Avenue bridge is not based on firsthand knowledge but on hearsay and
it is entitled to 1ittle weight, when contrasted with the testimony of
the person who was actually present at the time. See Vanity
Fair Paper Mills v. FTC, 311 F. 2d 480, 485-86 (2d Cir. 1962).

14/ There was testimony that Brown Trout were found in, the highway
siphon of the canal near the discharge point in 1957 and 1973, when the
canal was drained. Tr. 429-31, 458. Their presence can be explained
by the fact that some Brown Trout may have migrated from the creek into
the highway siphon in the fall in order to spawn. Tr. 709.
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I find, accordingly, that respondents violated FIFRA, Section
12{a)(2)(G), 7 U.S.C. Sec. 136j(a)(?}{G), by discharging water treated
with MAGNACIDE "H" into fish bearing waters in less than six days in
contravention of the label's directions for use, and using,it; therefore,
in a manner inconsistent with its- labeling.

It is undisputed that respondents did not consult the Fish and
Game Agency for the State of Colorado before applying the MAGNACIDE "H".
Respondents argue that consultation with the State Fish and Game Agency
would have served no useful purpose, asserting that the purpose of the
1abel provision was to insure that the user become thoroughly familiar
with the product, and that Lofland had extensively consulted with Federal
and State officiais to make himself thoroughly faﬂi]iar. Compiainant
argues more persuasively that the purpose is to obtain information about
the location of fish bearing waters énd—the drainage fléw patterns of the
water to be treated. In this case, there appears to be still another
reason for consulting with the State Fish and Game Agency before applying
the MAGNACIDE “H". When a highly toxic chemical such as MAGNACIDE "H*
is applied to waters which drain into fish bearing waters, and it is
intended to release the treated water into fish bearing waters in Tess
than the six days required by the label, the State Fish and Game Agency
is entitied to be alerted to the potential danger to the fish bearing
waters and to be given the opportunity to take steps'fo guard against

or prevent any harm to the fish.

I find, accordingly, that respondents violated FIFRA, Section

12{a){2){G), 7 U.S.C. 136j({a}{2)(G), by not consulting with the State
Fish and Game Agency before applying MAGNACIDE "H".




The Recommended Penalty

Complainant has requested a 510,000 penalty against Magna and
a $5,000 penalty against Lofland. Respondents aroue that the penalty
_ is excessive. In addition, respondents for the first time éaise the
guestion of whether Lofland's liability is governed by FIFRA,

Section 14{a){1) {7 U.S.C. 136 lja)(])) or Section 14(a}(2)
15/

{7 U.S.C. 136 1{a){2))

75/ Section 14(a)(1) (7 U.S.C. 136 1(a){1)) provides:

{1) In General -- Any registrant, commercial
applicator, wholesaler, dealer, retailer, or other
distributor who vicolates any provision of this Act
may be assessed a civil penalty by the Adwinistrator
of not more than $5,000 for each offense.

Section 14(a)(2} (7 U.S.C. 136 1{a)(2)) provides:

(2) Private Applicator. -- Any private
applicator or other person not included in
paragraph (1) who violates any provision of
this Act subsequent to receiving a written
warning from the Administrator or following
a citation for a prior violation, may be
assessed a civil penalty by the Administrator
of not more than $1,000 for each affense,

Section 14(a)(2) was amended by the 1978 Pesticide Act,
Sec. 17, 92 Stat. 832, with respect to the 1iability of applicaters.
One of the changes was to make certain applicators previously not
subject to penalties under Section 14(a)(2} for a first violation,
now liable for a penalty of $500 for a first violation. See
S. Rep. No. 95-1188, 95th Cong. 2d Sess. 44-45 {1978). Although
LofTand applied the product, complainant does not contend that
Lofland meets the qualification of and should be assessed penalties
under Section 14(a}{1) as a "commercial applicator.” The term
“commercial applicator” is defined ir FIFRA, Section 2{e), 7 U.S.C.
136 2(e), and the definition has been modified by the 1978 Pesticide
Act, Section 1, 92 Stat. 819, to provide that certain commercial
applicators are not to be considered “distributors” under Section
14{a){(1). The modification does not affect Lofland's 1liability
in this case. '
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Section 14(a){1) provides foi the assessment of civil penalties
against "[alny registrant, commercial applicator, wholesaler, dealer,
retailer, or other distributor.” Complainant appears to predipate
Lofland's 1iability under Section 14{(a){1) not upon the grounds that
Lofiand himself is a distributor but upon his participation in the
vioi?gion as an employee of Magna, who is a distributor of MAGNACIDE
"H“.wﬁ/ The applicable language, therefore, is “"wholesaler, dealer,
retailer or other distributor.” The words are not separately
defined in FIFRA to include employees, and if employees are to
be held liable, it must be for some other reason.

- Complainant argues that Section 14(b)(4), 7 U.S.C. 136 1(b)(4)
* is grounds for ma?ing Lofland subject to ﬁivi] peﬁa]ty under
Section 14(a)(1).] That section clearly establishes the 1iability
of Magna for Lofland's acts, but it doe§ not answer the question of

whether sanctions against Lofland are to be imposed under Section

14(a){1) or Section 14{a)(2).

16/ See Complainant's rely brief at 5.

17/ Reply Brief at 5. Section 14(b)(4), 7 U.S.C. 136 1(b}(4)
provides:

(4} Acts of Dfficers, Agents, etc. -- When
construing and enforcing the provisions of this |
Act, the act, omission, or failure of any officer,
agent, or other person acting for or employed by.any
person shall in every case be also deemed to be the
act, omission, or failure of such person as well as
that of the person employed.




The terms "wholesaler”, “dealer”, and "retailer" normally refer.
to the entity (corporation, partnership or sole proprietorship} which
operates and controls the business enterprise, and it would be giving
- such terms an unusual meaning to construe them to also inclide employees.
The same construction would also &pply to the word "distributor",
which relates back to the other terms. The general rule is that
words in a statute are to be given their normal meaning, except when
this does violence to the statutory objectives, or the legislative
history indicates otherwise. Burns v. Alcala, 420 U.S. 575, 580#1-8]

11975).

‘ No reason has been found not to give the pertinent language its
" normal meaning here. Construing Section 14(a)(1) fo impose liability
only on employers, who have control over-the acts and conduct of their
employees, seems t0 be an adequate method of enforcing FIFRA. No
legislative history or even authoritative administrative interpretation
has been cited to support compla{nant's position that employees must
also be subject to the same penalty as their employers. I find,

accordingly, that although Lofland has clearly violated FIFRA Section 12{a)

(2){G), he is not subject to penalties under Section ]4(a)11). The
complaint_ therefore, as to him must be dismissed, since no penalty
is assessable against him under Section 14[;)(2). -
Complainant's proposed penalty against Magna was derivgd from
the EPA's published guidelines for the assessment of civil penalties

under FIFRA, 39 Fed. Reg. 27711 (1974). Tr. 218.
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Hagna was estimated to have gross sales in excess of %1 million, and .
fall in Category ¥ in the penalty assessment schedule in the
guidelines. The viglations themselves were treated as ones where the
adverse effects are highly probable, for which the maximum penalty
of $5,000 is proposed. Tr. 218-19.

While the guidelines are to be consulted in assessing a penaltly,
I am not required to follow them if the penalty derived therefrom does
not appear appropriate to the facts of the_case. 40 C.F.R 168.46(b).
In determining what is an appropriate penalty, FIFRA provides
that 1 am to consider the gravity of the violation, the size of
resﬁondent's business and the effect of such proposed penalty on
respondent’s ability to continue in business. FIFRA, Section 14{(a){3),
7 U.S.C. 136 1{a)(3). o ,

Magna has not asserted that the proposed penalty of $10,000
would adversely affect its business, nor has it claimed that the
figure of over $1 million for its gross sales is too high. These
factors accordingly are not disputed. Magna's financial condition
is a matter within Magna‘s peculiar knowlédge; and the burden was on
Magna to come forward with evidence respecting it, if it Qished to
contest the appropriateness of thg proposed penalty on §uch grounds.
See 39'Fed. Reg. 27712. . -

It remains, then, to consider whether the proposed penalty

is justified by the gravity of the violation. Magna has introduced

considerable evidence on this issue. In determining the gravity
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of the violation, I am to consider Magna's history of compliance
with FIFRA and any evidence of Mayna‘s good faith. 40 CFR 168.60(b).
Gravity of the violation has also been held to involve the ‘evaluation
of two factors: gravity of misconduct and gravity of harm.' Amvac

Chemical Corp., EPA Notices of Judgment {June 1975), No. 1499 at 986.

[t is true, as respondent argues, that this record does not
disclose any previous violation by Magna. Ithis fact, however, is
given little weight here since what is involved appears to be an
intentional disregard of the label's directions on the assumption
that some unapproved method could be substituted.

Here the gravity of harm is attested to by the large fish kill.
I cannot agree with respondent's argument that thé'application of
MAGNACIOE "H" should be placed in the "Adverse Effects Net Probable"
category of the guidelines. The toxicity of the product is unquestioned,
and the effectiveness of the sodium bisulfite neutralization in the
circumstances under which it was applied here is very much open to
question. The evidence does not support respondent’s argument that the
efforts to neutralize the acrolein enjoyed a high probability of
success. Lofiand had not previously used sodium bisulfite to
neutralize canal water and indeed, the recqrd is barren of any
evidence that the procedure followed by Lofland was successfully

used to neutralize acrolein in canal water under conditions.similar

to that existing here.




That Lofland acted in good faith and believed that the acro]ein.
would be made harmless is not guestioned, and arguably that should
alsao be considered in determining the gravity of Magna's misconduct.
But Lofland's good faith is not enough. Respondents must demonstrate
that they used the requisite degree of care to prevent harm. I find
that they have not done so, for it has not been shown either that the
unépprOVed method of neutralizing acrolein in canal water with
sodium bisulfite was a safe way of using acrolein, or that Lofland
had the necessary experience or traiming tg do the sodium bisulfite
application successfully.

" 1, accordingly, find that a nenalty 0f_$5,000:sh0u1d be assessed
“against Magna for violation of the label's prohibition against
releasing treated water into fish bearing waters in less than six days.

The violation with respect to faj]ing to consult the Fish
and Game Agency, on the other hand, does not seem to be properly
classified as one whose adverse effects are "highiy probable."
Respondents undoubtedly knew that the St. Vrain Creek was a fish
bearing water before they applied MAGNACIDE "H." Indeed, that
would appear to be the explanation for attempting to neutrélizing
the acro]gin hefore it entered the creek. Consequently, it is not
tikely that consultation with the state Fisﬁ and Game-Aéency would
have a&ded anything to respondent's knowledge abgut tﬁe flow of the

canal into fish bearing waters which would have caused them to change

their method of application. At the same time, neither can the




violation be classified as one whose adverse effects are not
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probable. Alerting the State Fish and Game Agency to the acrolein
application may have resulted in some action by that Agency to
prevent or minimize the harm,

Consequently, I find that the appropriate classification for this
violation is "Adverse Effects Unknown" for which the proposed penalty
for a respondent with a business the size of Magna's is $2,800,

39 Fed. Reg. 27716, and this is the penalty that is assessed for this

viplation.

Respondents' Procedural QObjections

There remains to be disposed of respondents' abjection that
the presentation of their case was seriously impai?ed by the lack
of subpoena power in FIFRA civil penalty cases and the absence
of formal discovery mechanism. The objectfun is made for the
first time in respondents' posthearing brief, and respondents
have taken an ambiguous position on it, for they assert that I
need not reach this issue "in view of respondents' demonstrated
tack of 1iability for the charges assertéd.“ ‘Respondents_have
not demonstrated a lack of liability on the part of Magna. The
issue is reached and found to be without merit.

Respondents single out as examples of persons who they claim
were unavailable as witnesses, Thomas Gerson, a newspaper reporter,

for the Lyons Recorder, and William Brackett, the foremar of the

Lyons sewage treatment plant.
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Respondents appear to have overlooked that they were permitted
to put into evidence Mr. Gerson's written statement relating to his
newspaper articles about the fish kill, in lieu of having him testify
orally. Tr. 469-70. Respondents have not shown that this was an
inadequate way by which to presenf the facts Mr. Gerson would
testify to.l§/

Respondents never contended at the hearing that Mr. Brackett's
attendance as a witness was necessary to their case. This prevented
consideration being given at the hearing to whether any deficiency
in the record which was shown to result from Mr. Brackett’s unavail-
abifity could not have been corrected by the admission of a written
.statement from Mr. Brackett, or by stipulation, or’by other means,
with a minimum of disruption to the hgarings. Raising the issue
now appears to be more of an afterthought on the part of respondents.
Respondents assert generally that Mr. Brackett would testify about
chiorine discharges and other dangerous chemicals at the Lyons sewage
treatment plant. Respondents did introduce a considerable amount of
evidence on the operational difficulties éxperﬁenced by the Lyons

19/ -
sewage plant. It was, therefore, incumbent on respondents if

18/ Mr. Gerson's written statement was-considered but found
to be unpersuasive because his knowledge of the fish kill appeared
to be principally based on hearsay. Supra at 11, n. 13.

19/ See Resp. Ex. 23-121, Tr. 365-408.
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they wish to complain of Mr. Brackett's personal unavailability
as a witness at this late date, to uhow that Mr. Brackett's testimony
would have produced material facts which could not have been obtained
by other means and would not be simply cumulative. They have not
done so0, and this confirms that réspondents have suffered no real
prejudice from Mr. Brackett's asserted unavailability as a witness.

Respondents assert they were not given the prehearing discovery
required by "due process." Whether prehearing discovery is a
matter of right in administrative proceedings is a question which

has not been settled. Compare Silverman v. CFTC, 549 F.2d 28, 33

{7th Cir. 1977), with NLRB v. Rex Disposables, Div. of DHJ Industries,

Inc., 494 F. 2d 588 (5th Cir. 1974). The rules of practice governing

these proceedings do not provide for prehearing discovery as such,

but they do allow for the prehearing.exchange of each party's

proposed evidence. See 40 CFR 168.36. Such an exchange was made

in this case. Respondents have supplied no details as to what

specific relevant information would have been uncovered through

discovery over and above that furnished £0 thém. It thus_appears

that respondents' objection is speculative rather than resting on

any actual deprivation of due process and it must be rejected.
Finally, respondents have moved for the admission into

evidence of certain exhibits. This motion is unopposed by .complainant.

Exhibits marked as Respondents Exhibits 22 and 133 are received into

evidence. The affidavit of Carol Moores, sworn to September 15, 1974,
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with the map attached, is received into evidence as Respondent's
Exhibit 154. Respondent’s Exhibir 19, with a copy of the MAGMACIDE "H"
label attached, is substituted for the exhibit previously put in the
record. The exhibit which has begn replaced is renumbered'
Respondent's Exhibit 19A.
20/
FINAL ORDER
Pursuant to the Federal Insecticide,_Fungicide, and Rodenticide
Act, Section 14{a)(1) (7 u.S.C. 1361 (a)(1), a civil penalty of
$?,$DO is assessed against respondent Magna Covporation for the
violations which have been established on the complaint issued on
November 29, 1977. The complaint is dismissed as Eo respondent

Michael Lofland.

Firwvnd

Gerald Harwood
Administrative Law Judge

November 14, 1978

20/ Unless an appeal is taken by the filing of exceptions
pursuant "to Section 168.51 of the. rules of practice, 40 CFR 168.51,
or the Reqgional Administrator elects {o review this decision on
his own motion, the order shall become the final order of the
Administrator. See 40 CFR 168.46(c).




